### No. 71411-2-I (Linked with Nos. 71315-9-I and 71316-7-I)

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

BECKY S. ANDERSON, a single person,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

DONALD R. PAUGH; WENATCHEE VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER, P.S.; LINDA K. SCHATZ; WENATCHEE ANESTHESIA ASSOCIATES; MEDTRONIC, INC.; MEDTRONIC XOMED, INC.,

Defendants-Respondents.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

George M. Ahrend, WSBA #25160 AHREND ALBRECHT PLLC 16 Basin St. SW Ephrata, WA 98823 (509) 764-9000

Steven R. Pruzan, WSBA #6061 MIRACLE PRUZAN & PRUZAN 1000 2<sup>nd</sup> Ave., Ste. 1550 Seattle, WA 98104-1089 (206) 388-5038 Paul N. Luvera, WSBA #849
Joel D. Cunningham, WSBA #5586
Ralph J. Brindley, WSBA #8391

#### I. INTRODUCTION

On February 3, 2012, Becky Anderson went to the hospital for minor, elective surgery that was supposed to last ten minutes, using a laser to remove a polyp on her vocal cords. In the past, her surgeon had always used a special endotracheal tube with two "cuffs" to seal off the patient's trachea during the procedure, while the anesthesiologist administered oxygen through the lumen of the tube so the patient could breathe. The purpose of the double-cuff design is to protect the patient. The upper cuff is filled with saline, and, if struck by the laser, it acts like a shield, absorbing energy from the laser, and preventing the lower cuff from being inadvertently struck by the laser. The lower cuff will continue to hold the seal on the airway, so the surgeon can stop the procedure and swap out the damaged endotracheal tube for a new one before continuing. The lower cuff prevents oxygen-enriched air from escaping from the lungs to the site where the laser is being used. One of the risks of laser surgery, especially in the presence of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Regarding the nature of the surgery, see RP 98:12-17 (10/28/13 AM); RP 74:24-75:8 (10/30/13 PM); RP 49:5-15 (11/7/13 AM); RP 38:16-21 (11/12/13 PM); RP 77:21-78:1 (11/19/13 AM); RP 35:12-13 (11/20/13 PM). Because the report of proceedings is numbered discontinuously, citations in this brief parenthetically indicate the date of the cited portion of the transcript and, where applicable, whether it is from the morning (AM) or afternoon (PM) session of court.

relatively high concentrations of oxygen, is fire in the patient's airway. The combination of a heat source (the laser), combustible material (the endotracheal tube and/or the patient's tissue), and the flow of highly concentrated oxygen creates a blowtorch effect.<sup>2</sup>

On the day of Ms. Anderson's surgery, the surgeon used a Laser Shield II endotracheal tube manufactured by Medtronic Xomed, Inc., and its parent corporation, Medtronic, Inc., a major manufacturer of medical devices (collectively Medtronic).<sup>3</sup> The Laser Shield II employs a single-cuff design. Medtronic criticizes the double-cuff design as giving the surgeon a "false sense of security," contending that it may lead the surgeon to continue the surgery even though the second cuff is vulnerable to a laser strike and resulting airway fires.<sup>4</sup> However, since 2000, there is a history of eight airway fires with the single-cuff Laser Shield II, including two known reports in the State of Washington. During the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Regarding the blowtorch effect, see RP 30:15-33:4 (10/29/13 PM); RP 32:15-19 (10/30/13 AM).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The jury instructions did not distinguish between the Medtronic defendants, and the superior court denied a pretrial motion for summary judgment filed by Medtronic, Inc., contending that it is not liable as a manufacturer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Regarding the claim that the double-cuff design creates a false sense of security, see RP 96:8-97:24 (11/21/13 PM); RP 16:23-17:14 (11/25/13 PM); 62:4-25 (11/25/13 PM).

period of time, there is only one reported airway fire with the double-cuff design, occurring outside of Washington.<sup>5</sup>

The Laser Shield II comes in a plain white box that lacks any warning or reminder that, despite its name, the Laser Shield does not actually shield the patient from laser energy, nor does it contain any reminder to protect the single cuff from a laser strike with small saline-soaked wads of absorbent cotton known as "pledgets," nor does it contain any reminder about the risk of endotracheal tube fire in the presence of concentrations of oxygen greater than room air, nor does it even contain a reminder to read or request a copy of the product's instructions.<sup>6</sup>

During the operation on Ms. Anderson, the surgeon struck the cuff of the Laser Shield II with the laser, while the anesthesiologist was administering 100% oxygen. Without any protection from a second cuff, 100% oxygen leaked into the surgical site where the laser was being used. The endotracheal tube caught on fire, creating a blowtorch effect, and Ms. Anderson suffered horrific burns in her respiratory tract. Fragments of the Laser

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There is reason to believe that the history of adverse events may be underreported. See RP 7:4-16 (11/4/13 PM); RP 50:24-52:1 (11/4/13 PM).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See CP 4137 (photocopy of the surface of the box).

Shield II were embedded in her trachea, and the tip of the tube lodged in the lower left lobe of her lungs. She was hospitalized for more than five months, undergoing multiple surgeries, and ultimately placed in a nursing home.

Ms. Anderson originally went in for surgery so she would not get hoarse when she sang. Now, she is unable to speak or even breathe for more than 30 minutes at a time without ventilator assistance.

Ms. Anderson filed suit against her health care providers for negligence, and against Medtronic for defective design of the Laser Shield II endotracheal tube and failure to warn her health care providers about the dangers of the product. Following trial, the jury returned a verdict against the health care providers, but in favor of Medtronic. Beforehand, the superior court dismissed Ms. Anderson's failure-to-warn claim against Medtronic on summary judgment. With respect to her design defect claim, the court instructed the jury that Ms. Anderson had the burden of proving that the Laser Shield II was not reasonably safe, but declined to give the pattern jury instruction containing the statutory tests for determining whether a product is reasonably safe. The health care providers have filed two separate appeals of the judgment entered

against them, and Ms. Anderson cross appeals the judgment in favor of Medtronic.<sup>7</sup>

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- With respect to her defective design claim, the superior court erred in refusing to give Becky Anderson's proposed jury instruction regarding the statutory tests to determine whether a product is reasonably safe as designed.<sup>8</sup>
- The superior court erred in dismissing Ms. Anderson's failure-to-warn product liability claim on summary judgment.
   CP 4491 (summary judgment order).
- The superior court erred in awarding costs against
   Ms. Anderson. CP 4495 (judgment).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See CP 4471-84 (notice of appeal); CP 4485-96 (amended notice of appeal). The health care providers appeals have been consolidated, and Ms. Anderson's cross appeal has been linked to the consolidated cases. In motion practice regarding superseding the judgment, counsel for Ms. Anderson described her cross appeal as "protective," to prevent the health care providers from allocating fault to an empty chair in case they obtain reversal and remand for a new trial in their consolidated appeals. This description relates solely to Ms. Anderson's reasons for pursuing the cross appeal, rather than the merits of her claims against Medtronic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 4463 (proposed jury instruction); CP 2546-77 (court's instructions to the jury, omitting proposed instruction); CP 4468-69 (written exceptions to the court's instructions); RP 10:11 (12/3/13 AM) (incorporating written exceptions by reference). The proposed jury instruction, CP 4463, and the pattern jury instruction on which it is based, WPI 110.02, are reproduced in the Appendix to this brief.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Where the superior court instructs the jury that Becky Anderson has the burden of proving that Medtronic's Laser Shield II is not reasonably safe, but declines her request to give an instruction regarding the statutory tests to determine whether the product is reasonably safe, do the instructions properly inform the jury of the law applicable to Ms. Anderson's design defect claim? (Assignment of Error No. 1).
- 2. Where the Laser Shield II comes in a plain white box lacking any warning or reminder (a) that it does not actually shield the patient from laser energy, (b) that the single cuff should be protected from a laser strike with pledgets, (c) that there is a risk of fire in the presence of high concentrations of oxygen, and/or (d) that the user should read or request a copy of the product's instructions, does a surgeon's failure to read the instructions relieve Medtronic of its duty to warn as a matter of law? (Assignment of Error No. 2).
- 3. Under RCW 4.84.010(7), is Medtronic entitled to an award of costs for entire depositions, without regard for the extent to which they were used at trial? (Assignment of Error No. 3).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. The superior court dismisses Ms. Anderson's failure-to-warn claim against Medtronic on summary judgment.

Before trial, Medtronic moved for summary judgment, seeking dismissal of Ms. Anderson's failure to warn claim, among other things. *See* CP 3769-3800. In response, Anderson pointed to evidence in the record from engineer and human factors expert, George Samaras, Ph.D, and testimony from Ms. Anderson's surgeon, Donald Paugh, M.D. *See* CP 4430, 4441.

Dr. Samaras is a professional engineer and human factors expert. See CP 3916-28 (curriculum vitae). Approximately 10-15% of his work involves drafting instructions for use (IFUs) and warnings for medical devices. Dr. Samaras opined in part that the "labeling of the modified Laser-Shield II endotracheal tube was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Videotaped Deposition of George Michael Samaras, Ph.D., Aug. 28, 2013, at 204:14-21 (hereafter "Samaras Depo., Aug. 28, 2013), attached as Exhibit 15 to the Supplemental Declaration of Victoria Lockard Re Motions to Strike Experts Causation Opinions Against the Medtronic Defendants (Sub No. 299H), filed Sept. 4, 2013. The supplemental declaration of Ms. Lockard was before the superior court and cited by Anderson in response to Medtronic's motion for summary judgment. See CP 4430 (citing deposition transcript). It is being transmitted to the Court of Appeals via a supplemental designation of Clerk's Papers.

inadequate."<sup>10</sup> The labeling includes both the IFU inserted into the box containing the product and the box itself.<sup>11</sup> With respect to the IFU, Dr. Samaras noted the following:

- The IFU violates 21 C.F.R. § 801.15(a)(15), because it is in an "essentially unreadable" 6point font, in a 36-page multi-language booklet that "makes the package insert, on its face, impenetrable and effectively inhibits utilization by end users, especially those under time pressure."
- The lack of readability is confirmed by standard measures of readability employed by human factors experts, including the Gunning-Fog Index, the Flesch Reading Ease Score, and the Flesch-Kinkaid Grade Level Score.
- The instructions contain nonsensical text, i.e., "[t]he associated complications due to inappropriate patient selection, incorrect tube placement or improper connection of the Laser Shield II is essential for the safe and effective ventilation of the patient."
- Reported test data conflicts with statements in the IFU.
- The IFU violates 21 C.F.R. § 801.109(c), because it recommends a questionable procedure for managing surgical fire.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Summary of Certain Opinions by George M. Samaras, PhD, DSc, PE, CPE, CQE, July 22, 2013, at 2 (hereafter Samaras Summary of Opinions), which is attached as Exhibit 16 to the supplemental declaration of Victoria Lockard, transmitted via supplemental designation of Clerk's Papers. See also CP 4430 (citing Samaras Summary of Opinions).

<sup>11</sup> See Samaras Depo., Aug. 28, 2013, at 260:6-7.

 Labeling the device a "Laser-Shield" is inaccurate and misleading because it "does not provide a means for shielding against laser energy."

In light of the foregoing, Dr. Samaras concluded that "[t]his IFU, in my opinion, was not designed to be read by anybody." <sup>13</sup>

With respect to the box containing the Laser Shield, Dr. Samaras explained:

- "[L]abeling, as defined by the FDA and as generally accepted in the human factors profession, has to do with all physical labels, all instruction manuals, all advertisements related to the use and characteristics of the product and any statements made by agents of the manufacturing firm. The box that I was given that contained the Laser-Shield II that I cut apart and that you kept has a small label on it and also has a huge white space that could very easily have borne warnings and cautions to the end user that would also have been embedded in the IFU."14
- "[T]he white space on the box provides a reasonable person with an opportunity to post

<sup>12</sup> Samaras Summary of Opinions, at 7-9.

<sup>13</sup> Samaras Depo., Aug. 28, 2013, at 354:19-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Samaras Depo., Aug. 28, 2013, at 363:12-23 (brackets added); accord id. at 387:11-24 (stating "part of the risk communication process is the labeling. That includes the instructions for use on the outside of the box. And part of it is one of the agents and presumably, as — as do many other companies — and I've worked on basically presentations for not the sales folks but the technical folks that go out with them that do the in-services, that the agents for the companies can provide the information in a way so that either the end users are familiar with the contents of the instructions for use or are aware that they really need to take the time and review the instructions for use.")

warnings. Since you don't know whether somebody is going to read or even understand your IFU, this is another example of a redundant safety system. Except in this case, it's not a design issue; it's a labeling issue." <sup>15</sup>

"The only criticism I have [about the box] is that there is an obvious opportunity to provide warning .... that there could have been to good effect a redundant set of labeling on the outside of the box; that whoever picked up the box, unless they had their eyes closed, would probably have noticed."16

According to Dr. Samaras, "a reasonable and prudent manufacturer would have taken advantage of all possible ways of warning the end user[,]" specifically including the provision of warnings on the box.<sup>17</sup>

Becky Anderson's surgeon, Donald R. Paugh, M.D., did not see the IFU before he operated on Ms. Anderson, and he thought the box for the Laser Shield II might have been empty, although he could not say for sure. However, he remembered seeing the box and explained his reaction as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Samaras Depo., Aug. 28, 2013, at 368:3-9 (brackets added); *accord id.* at 362:8-11 (stating "the box that the device and the IFU is contained in has a huge, big white space on the front of it, and it was an ideal portion — place to place warnings. And it was white space. There were no warnings.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Samaras Depo., Aug. 28, 2013, at 370:9-21 (brackets & ellipses added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Samaras Depo., Aug. 28, 2013, at 368:19-22 (brackets added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 3888 (Paugh Depo., at 88:7-19, indicating he did not see a package insert); CP 3890 (Paugh Depo., at 95:5-9, indicating he thought the box was empty).

- Q. [Y]ou understood completely that there was a risk of — potential risk of a surgical fire if there was some kind of an ignition from the laser, right?
- A. [By Dr. Paugh:] No.
- Q. You didn't understand that, anything about the risk of surgical fires?
- A. That was the assumption I made when I saw the box.
- O. Tell me about that.
- A. Because the box, you asked me about labeling.
- Q. Yes.
- A. And that's what that's what kind of relaxed me a little bit is the label on the box describing as a laser shield tube.
- Q. Right.
- A. A tube that's able to be struck by the laser.
- Q. Okay. So you took the title of LASER-SHIELD II as one that could be struck by the laser.
- A. I did.<sup>19</sup>

Based on the foregoing testimony, Ms. Anderson's failure-to-warn claim focused on the manner in which Medtronic provided its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 3889-90 (Deposition of Donald R. Paugh, M.D., Dec. 17, 2012, at 92:25-93:19 [hereafter Paugh Depo.]); accord CP 3890 (Paugh Depo., at 9522-96:1, indicating "surprise" that the IFU warns users not to impact the Laser Shield with a laser beam).

warning. RP 87:19-24 (9/20/13). However, the superior court discounted the lack of warnings on the box, and dismissed the claim on grounds that Dr. Paugh did not read the IFU. RP 99:6-14 (9/20/13).

B. The superior court instructs the jury that Ms. Anderson has the burden of proving that the Laser Shield II is not reasonably safe as designed, but declines her request to give the pattern jury instruction containing the statutory tests to determine whether a product is reasonably safe.

During trial, there was conflicting testimony regarding the safety of Medtronic's design for the Laser Shield II. The superior court gave Instruction No. 19, adapting the pattern jury instruction regarding the elements of a defective design claim, WPI 110.21. See CP 2567. The court also gave Instruction No. 20, adapting the pattern instruction regarding negligent design in the medical context, WPI 110.02.01. See CP 2568. The court did not give any other instructions regarding the design claim.<sup>20</sup>

The court's instructions to the jury required Becky Anderson to prove "that the Medtronic defendants failed to exercise reasonable care in the design of the Laser-Shield II at the time the product left their control," and explained that "a medical device

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  Copies of the court's instructions to the jury regarding the design claim, CP 2567-68, are reproduced in the Appendix.

manufacturer has a duty to use reasonable care to design medical devices that are reasonably safe." CP 2567-68 (emphasis added). The instructions further required Ms. Anderson to prove "that the unsafe condition of the product was a proximate cause" of her injury. CP 2567 (emphasis added). However, the instructions did not define what constitutes a "reasonably safe" product.

Anderson brought the lack of definition to the court's attention, and proposed an instruction based on WPI 110.02, stating the risk-utility and consumer expectations tests for determining whether a product is reasonably safe under the Washington Product Liability Act (WPLA), RCW 7.72.030(1)(a) & (3). See CP 4463 (proposed instruction). When the court declined to give the instruction, she took formal exception. See CP 4468-69 (written exceptions); RP 10:11 (12/3/13 AM) (incorporating written exceptions by reference).<sup>21</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> At one point, Medtronic proposed an instruction apparently based on WPI 110.02, containing a form of the risk-utility test, but not the consumer expectations test. *See* Proposed Instruction No. 30, adapting WPI 110.02, in Defendants Medtronic Xomed, Inc.'s and Medtronic, Inc.'s Requested Jury Instructions (Sub No. 494), filed Oct. 8, 2013. Medtronic's proposed instructions are being transmitted to the Court of Appeals via a supplemental designation of Clerk's Papers.

C. During closing argument, counsel for Medtronic focuses almost entirely on the issue of whether the Laser Shield II is reasonably safe, and the jury returns a verdict in the company's favor.

Counsel for Medtronic began her closing argument by emphasizing what she believed to be the dispositive issue: "I want to start by saying that this case is complex, but I think what's clear is that the plaintiffs [sic] cannot prove that the Laser Shield II was not reasonably safe, which is the standard." RP 83:9-13 (12/3/13 PM) (brackets added).<sup>22</sup> "I am focusing on this first question, that is, did the plaintiff's [sic] prove, have they proven that the Laser Shield II is not reasonably safe?" RP 84:11-13 (brackets added).

Counsel pointed out that the verdict as to Medtronic hinged on this single issue:

did the plaintiff prove ... that the Laser Shield II modified was not reasonably safe? Okay. And the answer — if the answer is no, then you stop there, and I will show you the verdict form as we go. You check no for no negligence and you stop. And it's a defense verdict for Medtronic/Xomed. No need to even proceed beyond the first question.

RP 90:7-15 (ellipses added); *accord* RP 85:8-10 ("if you find that the Laser Shield II, first question, question one, negligence. Is reasonably safe, then deliberations must end [sic]").

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