No. 71411-2-1 

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION I 

BECKY S. ANDERSON, a single person, 

Plaintiff-Appellant, 

v. 

DONALD R. PAUGH; WENATCHEE V ALLEY MEDICAL CENTER, 
P.S.; LINDA K. SCHATZ; WENATCHEE ANESTHESIA 

ASSOCIATES; MEDTRONIC, INC.; MEDTRONIC XOMED, INC., 

Defendants-Respondents. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS 
MEDTRONIC, INC. AND MEDTRONIC XOMED, INC. 

Stephania Denton 
LANE POWELL PC 

1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 
P.O. Box 91302 

Seattle, Washington 98111-9402 
(206) 223-7016 

Lori G. Cohen (pro hac vice) 
Victoria Lockard (pro hac vice) 

Evan Holden (pro hac vice pending) 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 

Terminus 200 
3333 Piedmont Road, N.E.

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

making it likely, that physician sees the insert." Id. 

Here, in contrast, the physicians opened the box that contained the 

Instructions for Use just moments before the surgery, and Dr. Schatz knew 

the Instructions for Use were in the box. CP 3861 (74:25-75:9). 

Moreover, no Washington court has adopted a similar legal standard, and 

Baker's holding is unique to its facts and hardly representative of New 
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York law. See, e.g., Wolfgruber v. Upjohn Co., 72 A.D.2d 59, 61-62, 423 

N.Y.S.2d 95, 97 (1979) ("We consider Baker distinguishable since in that 

case the warnings were furnished at one time in the Physician's Desk 

Reference and then later discontinued") afJ'd on opn below, 52 N.Y.2d 

768,417 N.E.2d 1002 (1980); Eiser v. Feldman, 123 A.D.2d 583, 584, 

507 N.Y.S.2d 386 (1st Dep't 1986) ("[w]here, as here, express warnings 

have been given against the complained-of harm, bare allegations of 

inadequacy ... are not sufficient to defeat ... summary judgment."). 

Here, as in Wolfgruber, "not only were the warnings fully descriptive and 

complete, but they were communicated to the prescribing physician ... " 

72 A.D.2d at 61-62. And, as in Eiser, Anderson's "bare allegations of 

inadequacy" were insufficient to create an issue of fact. 22 

Finally, Anderson's argument, if taken to its logical conclusion, 

would effectively preclude any defendant from establishing that its 

warnings were adequate as a matter of law. Even if the Instructions for 

Use described the precise risk that the plaintiff experienced, the plaintiff 

22 Anderson also states that "Baker is cited with approval in Martin v. Hacker, 83 
N.Y.2d I, 8, 628 N.E.2d 1308 (1993), which is in turn cited with approval in 
LaMontagne, 127 Wn. App. at 344." Brief of Appellant, p. 27 n. 32. This representation 
is misleading. To the extent Baker is approved by Martin, it is for a different and 
unrelated proposition. In fact, the decision in Martin, rendered by New York's highest 
appellate court, is unequivocal, directly contrary to Baker, and supports Medtronic's 
position here: the adequacy of warnings provided in connection with prescription drugs 
can be determined as a matter of law such that summary judgment is warranted when the 
"package insert contains language, which on its face, warns against the precise risk in 
question ... " Martin, 83 N.Y.2d at 15-16. 
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could say that the warning should have been placed on the box. Even if 

some warnings were provided on the box, a plaintiff could say that the 

manufacturer prioritized the wrong warnings in the limited space on the 

packaging. The trial court identified the fallacy of this argument, and 

properly rejected Anderson's contention. RP 99:6-21 (9/20/13). 

2. The trial court properly found Anderson failed to prove 
Medtronic's warnings proximately caused her injuries. 

It is axiomatic that Anderson bears the burden of proving the lack 

of adequate warnings proximately caused her injuries. E.g., Soproni, 137 

Wn.2d at 325 ("In a product liability action, the plaintiff must prove that 

his or her injuries were proximately caused by a product ... because 

adequate warnings or instructions were not provided."). Because the 

undisputed evidence established that any additional or different warnings 

would not have impacted the outcome, the trial court properly granted 

summary judgment in Medtronic's favor based on Anderson's inability to 

prove proximate cause. E.g., Davis, 102 Wn.2d at 74 ("If an event would 

have occurred regardless of defendant's conduct, that conduct is not the 

proximate cause of the plaintiffs injury"). On appeal, Anderson fails to 

even address her inability to establish causation. This failure, in and of 

itself, supports the dismissal of her failure to warn claim. 

Anderson cannot establish proximate causation for three reasons. 
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First, her physicians did not read the written instructions provided by 

Medtronic despite knowing that the product insert existed. Second, her 

physicians were independently aware of the risks associated with using an 

endotracheal tube in laser surgery. Third, the undisputed facts 

demonstrate that no amount of additional warnings would have altered the 

behavior of Anderson's physicians. 

a. Anderson cannot establish proximate causation 
because neither Dr. Paugh nor Dr. Schatz reviewed 
the Instructions for Use. 

A physician's failure to review or read available warnings breaks 

the causal chain because the plaintiff cannot prove additional information 

would have altered the outcome. E.g., Hiner v. BridgestoneiFirestone, 

Inc., 138 Wn.2d 248,257-58,978 P.2d 505 (1999) (finding no proximate 

cause as a matter of law because plaintiff failed to either read the 

provisions in the product's owner's manual or otherwise examine product 

for warnings); Douglas v. Bussabarger, 73 Wn.2d 476, 477-78, 438 P.2d 

829 (1968) (affirming jury verdict for drug manufacturer because "even if 

we assume [additional] labeling should have taken place, [the physician] 

testified that he relied on his own knowledge of anesthetics and, in fact, 

did not read the labeling which was on the container"). Courts in other 

jurisdictions have reached the same conclusion in the context of 

prescription medical devices. See, e.g., Jones v. C. R. Bard, Inc., No. 
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2: ll-cv-00114, 2013 WL 5591948, *6 (S.D. W. Va. Jun. 4, 20l3) 

("Simply put, because Dr. Williams did not review the [Instructions for 

Use], no amount of warnings contained in it would have caused Dr. 

Williams to act any differently"); Sosna v. Am. Horne Prod., 298 A.D.2d 

158,748 N.Y.S.2d 548 (lst Dep't 2002) (same); Matus v. Pfizer, Inc., 196 

F. Supp. 2d 984,999 (C.D. Cal. 2001) (same). 

Here, none of Anderson's medical providers actually read the 

Instructions for Use that accompanied the Laser-Shield n.23 See CP 3857 

(60:1-6) [Schatz Dep.]; CP 3888 (88:l3-89:4) [Paugh Dep.]. Thus, other 

or additional warnings would not have yielded a different result. E.g., 

Hiner, l38 Wn.2d at 257-58. 

Anderson may attempt to argue that a jury was entitled to decide 

whether additional warnings on the box would have altered the conduct of 

her physicians. If this is her argument, it fails for lack of evidentiary 

support: neither Dr. Paugh nor Dr. Schatz testified that any additional 

warnings would have convinced them to read the Instructions for Use that 

they chose not to review. Even drawing every inference in Anderson's 

favor, as the Court must do, it is "purely speculative" to claim that Dr. 

Paugh and Dr. Schatz would have acted differently-and prevented the 

23 Dr. Schatz unequivocally testified that the Instructions for Use were in the box 
and available to both her and Dr. Paugh had they wanted to review them prior to 
Anderson's surgery. CP 3861 (74:25-75:9). 
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injury to Anderson-had the tube been in a different box. Baughn v. 

Honda Motor Co., Ltd., 107 Wn.2d 127, 144, 727 P.2d 655 (1986). 

To the extent Anderson maintains her argument that the box 

specifically should have warned physicians to reduce the oxygen level, see 

RP 87: 1-4, 88: 18-20, 89:5-7 (9/20113), that argument is unsupported by 

any competent evidence. Dr. Schatz, the anesthesiologist, saw the box 

containing Medtronic' s endotracheal tube, but she did not testify that she 

saw or read any of the writing on the box. CP 3861 (74:16-75:9). 

Regardless, Dr. Schatz did not criticize the box in any way, and she 

already knew about the combustion risk associated with high oxygen 

levels. See § B(3)(b), infra. The only physician testimony about the box 

came from Dr. Paugh, the surgeon. Dr. Paugh, however, does not 

participate in, let alone make, decisions regarding the level of oxygen 

administration, CP 3876 (38:3-8), and he has no recollection of doing so in 

this case. CP 3882 (64:7-9); CP 3892 (102:12-22). Prior to Anderson's 

surgery, it was not Dr. Paugh's practice to address the level of oxygen 

administration with the anesthesiologist. CP 3876 (39: 1 0-15). Because 

Dr. Paugh played no role in setting the oxygen level, his testimony cannot 

establish that Anderson's injury would have been avoided even if the box 
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had "reminded" physicians to use reduced oxygen levels.24 

For all of these reasons, Anderson's claim fails for lack of proof of 

causation. Hiner, 138 Wn.2d at 257-58; Stepp, 2008 WL 4460268 at *8-9. 

b. Anderson cannot establish proximate causation 
because her physicians were independently aware of 
the risks associated with the endotracheal tube. 

An alleged failure to provide adequate warnings does not 

proximately cause an injury if the product user is independently aware of 

the risks and dangers associated with the product. See Baughn, 107 

Wn.2d at 143-44; Soproni, 137 Wn.2d at 326 (affirming summary 

judgment dismissal of failure to warn claim against window manufacturer 

where plaintiff was aware that an open window presented a danger and 

that her child had easily opened the window just prior to his fall). The 

same is true in the context of prescription drugs and medical devices. See, 

e.g., Ellis v. C. R. Bard, Inc., 311 F.3d 1272, 1280 (11th Cir. 2002) 

(affirming summary judgment for manufacturer of medical device where 

plaintiffs healthcare providers had actual knowledge of risks that were not 

identified in product literature). 

24 At most, Dr. Paugh testified that he thought Medtronic's tube could be struck by 
the laser because of the name "LASER SHIELD II." CP 3890 (93: I 0-19). He certainly 
did not testiry that he struck the tube on purpose or that he would not have struck the tube 
had its box borne the trade name "LASER RESIST II" or otherwise warned him to avoid 
contact between the laser and the tube. Dr. Paugh knew from his own inspection that the 
cuff was not laser resistant. CP 3891 (99:3-21). Dr. Paugh also acknowledged that the 
laser can strike any endotracheal tube, and he's "certain [he's] struck the tube that [he] 
had use[d] for years on the other cases." CP 3890 (96: \5 -20). 
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Anderson's failure to warn claim fails for lack of proof of 

causation because her medical providers admitted they were independently 

aware of the dangers associated with the product. Based on his general 

training and experience, Dr. Paugh was aware that it was dangerous to use 

surgical lasers in the presence of elevated oxygen levels. CP 3891 (97:8-

16). He generally knew there was an inherent risk of fire when using a 

laser in a surgical procedure, CP 3894 (111: 11-14), and he specifically 

knew that using an endotracheal tube during laser surgery could result in a 

fire within a patient's throat. CP 3890 (94:7-14). Based on his own 

firsthand observation, he knew that certain parts of the Medtronic 

endotracheal tube, including the cuff, were not laser resistant. CP 3891 

(99:3-21). Dr. Schatz, too, knew that laser surgery required "extreme 

care" to retain the appropriate "oxygen gas mixture concentration," CP 

3858 (61 :13-19), because "high oxygen supports combustion." CP 3855 

(51: 19); see also CP 3848 (21: 17-24). Dr. Schatz also knew only some 

parts of the tube were laser resistant, CP 3858 (61:6-12), and that striking 

the cuff with the laser could result in fire. CP 3858 (61 :20-62:2). 

Because Dr. Paugh and Dr. Schatz were independently aware of all 

the risks associated with use of the Medtronic product, Anderson cannot 

establish that allegedly inadequate warnings caused her injury. See 

Baughn, 107 Wn.2d at 143-44; Anderson v. Weslo, Inc., 79 Wn. App. 829, 
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840, 906 P.2d 336, 341 (1995) (a "manufacturer does not have a duty to 

warn of obvious or known dangers"). 

c. Anderson cannot establish proximate causation 
because no amount of warnings would have 
changed her physicians' behavior. 

If the evidence reflects that additional warnings "would have made 

no difference," Anderson cannot prove proximate causation. See 

Kauffman v. Manchester Tank & Equip. Co., 203 F .3d 831 (9th Cir. 1999); 

see also Anderson, 79 Wn. App. at 839 (no proof of causation because 

"when a person is aware of the risk and chooses to disregard it, the 

manufacturer's warning serves no purpose in preventing the harm"). 

The undisputed testimony established that Dr. Paugh expressed 

concern when he was presented with the Medtronic endotracheal tube in 

lieu of the device he customarily used. See CP 3846 (15:17-21); see also 

RP 88:4-7 (9/20/13). Under these circumstances a reasonably prudent 

physician would have reviewed the Instructions for Use for any unique 

instructions or warnings.25 Yet despite his lack of familiarity with the 

product, and notwithstanding his independent awareness of the attendant 

risks and dangers, Dr. Paugh declined to avail himself of the information 

contained in the Instructions for Use. CP 3888-89 (88:13-17, 88:25-89:4). 

25 Dr. Schatz also admitted that a reasonably prudent physician should be aware of 
the warnings and instructions associated with a medical device the physician had never 
used before. CP 3856 (54:5-10,55:3). 
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Dr. Paugh thus "paid so little attention to the warnings that were given, 

[that] it is unlikely that he would have changed his behavior in response to 

even more detailed warnings." Anderson, 79 Wn. App. at 839. 

C. THE COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO PROVIDE AN 
ADVISORY OPINION ON AN ISSUE THAT WAS NOT 
RAISED BELOW; ALTERNATIVELY, THE COURT 
SHOULD RULE THAT NEGLIGENCE APPLIES TO A 
WARNINGS CLAIM IN THE MEDICAL CONTEXT. 

Although the issue is not labeled as an assignment of error, Brief of 

Appellant, p. ii, Anderson asks this Court to provide guidance for the 

benefit of the trial court on remand by ruling that "strict liability," as 

opposed to negligence, "is the standard for failure-to-warn claims in the 

medical context." Brief of Appellant, p. 29. The Court should decline to 

address this issue because Anderson seeks relief that she did not request in 

the court below. Even if Anderson's request were properly before the 

Court, negligence, not strict liability, applies to a failure to warn claim 

against manufacturers of prescription medical products. 

1. Anderson failed to preserve this issue for review and 
seeks an improper advisory opinion. 

Anderson's apparent challenge to the standard for her failure to 

warn claim is not adequately preserved for review, and improperly asks 

the Court to render an advisory opinion. See RAP 2.5(a) (an appellate 

court "may refuse to review any claim ... not raised in the trial court."). 

Anderson never asked the trial court to apply a strict liability 
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standard to her failure to warn claim, and she admits that "[t]he superior 

court below did not address the standard of liability." Brief of Appellant, 

p. 29. She also did not raise this issue in her summary judgment 

opposition, see CP 4441, or at oral argument. See RP 83-93 (09/20113). 

She likewise never asked the trial court to adopt the dissent in Young, 130 

Wn.2d at 179-89, which is now the basis of her argument. See Brief of 

Appellant, pp. 29-31. To the contrary, Anderson repeatedly acknowledged 

that negligence was the appropriate standard for all her claims, including 

failure to warn. RP 81:8-10 (9/20113). As such, Anderson did not 

preserve this issue for appellate review. E.g., State v. Davis, 175 Wn.2d 

287, 344, 290 P.3d 43 (2012) (declining to review unpreserved argument 

in part because motion "did not mention . . . the case around which 

[appellant's] argument here is based"); Foster v. Gilliam, 165 Wn. App. 

33,49,268 P.3d 945 (2011) (appellant abandoned issue and "cannot raise 

it now for the first time on appeal" because he did not make argument in 

memorandum oflaw or oral argument in trial court)?6 

26 Furthermore, although Anderson challenges the evidentiary basis of the trial 
court's ruling on Medtronic's summary judgment motion, she does not claim the trial 
court erred by applying a negligence standard to her failure to warn claim. Brief of 
Appellant, pp. 25-28. Although she contends Caruso v. Local Union No. 690, 100 Wn.2d 
343,352,670 P.2d 240 (1983) authorizes the Court to provide guidance to the trial court 
on remand, the Court in that case addressed instructional errors identified and properly 
preserved by the petitioner. By contrast, Anderson is essentially requesting an improper 
advisory opinion, and "[b]ecause this issue has not been litigated below and may never 
be, [the Court should] decline to address it." Commonwealth Ins. Co. of A mer. v. Grays 
Harbor Cy., 120 Wn. App. 232,245,84 P.3d 304 (2004). 
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2. In the context of prescription medical products, a 
negligence standard applies to any claim that the 
manufacturer provided inadequate warnings. 

If the Court is inclined to address this issue, it should hold that a

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